ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 The Circuit Court erred by failing to enforce the clear and unambiguous "West Virginia 
Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2" exclusion contained in the operative 
endorsement of the First Mercury primary policy, and by failing to recognize Employers' 
Mut. Ins. Co. v. Summit Point, 228 W. Va. 360, 719 S.E.2d 830 (2011) as controlling 
authority on this issue. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court erred by finding that the First Mercury primary policy was ambiguous 
based on the Circuit Court's erroneous conclusion that the "West Virginia Workers 
Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2" exclusion contained in the operative endorsement 
excluded the only type of claim that could be brought in West Virginia against an insured 
employer based on an injury to an employee. 

3. 	 The Circuit Court erred by finding that the First Mercury primary policy was ambiguous 
based on the fact that the "West Virginia Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2" 
exclusion contained in the operative endorsement references the applicable West Virginia 
Code section at issue without quoting the content of the Code section. 

4. 	 The Circuit Court erred by finding that the First Mercury primary policy was ambiguous 
based on the Circuit Court's erroneous conclusion that the "West Virginia Workers 
Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2" exclusion contained in the operative endorsement was 
confusing to the claim handling employees of First Mercury. 

The Circuit Court erred by applying the doctrine of reasonable expectations to find that 
the "Stop Gap - Employers Liability Coverage Endorsement - West Virginia" 
endorsement contained in the First Mercury primary policy provides coverage to Kimes 
Steel for deliberate intent claims, despite a clear exclusion regarding such claims. 

6. 	 The Circuit Court erred by finding that the "Stop Gap - Employers Liability Coverage 
Endorsement - West Virginia" endorsement contained in the First Mercury primary 
policy amounts to illusory coverage because it excludes deliberate intent claims. 

7. 	 The Circuit Court erred by applying the doctrine of estoppel to find that the "Stop Gap -
Employers Liability Coverage Endorsement - West Virginia" endorsement contained in 
the First Mercury primary policy provides coverage to Kimes Steel for deliberate intent 
claims, despite a clear exclusion regarding such claims. 

8. 	 The Circuit Court erred by finding that First Mercury had a duty to defend Kimes Steel 
against the Russells' deliberate intent lawsuit. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


I. The Accident and Resulting Lawsuit 

On May 3, 2013, Appellee Jeffrey Russell was injured while working as an employee for 

Appellee Kimes Steel, Inc. ("Kimes Steel"). As a result of that incident, in February of 2014 

Appellees Jeffrey and Anita Russell ("the Russells") filed a "deliberate intention" lawsuit against 

Kimes Steel for damages pursuant to W. Va. Code § 23-4-2. Both the original Complaint 

(AROOOI-0004) and the later Amended Complaint (AR0005-0010) filed by the Russells layout 

factual allegations that track the familiar five part test contained in W. Va. Code § 23-4

2(d)(2)(B)(ii), and contain the following summary allegation: 

The conduct of Defendant Kimes, as described hereinabove, constitutes 
"deliberate intention," as defined by § 23-4-2 of the West Virginia Code. 
(AR0003 and 0007)1 

II. The Insurance Policies 

At the time of the injury in question, Kimes Steel was insured under a commercial 

general liability insurance policy, Policy Number MI-CGL-0000017233-01 ("the Primary 

Policy")(AR0063-0128), and a commercial excess policy, Policy Number MI-EX-0000017234

01 ("the Excess Policy")(AR0129-0158), both issued by Appellant First Mercury Insurance 

Company, Inc. ("First Mercury"). 

The Primary Policy First Mercury issued to Kimes Steel contains a normal insuring 

agreement (AR0068), as well as a standard exclusion for employer's liability (AR0069), neither 

of which is in dispute in this appeal. 

The Primary Policy is modified by an Endorsement identified as the "Stop Gap -

Employers Liability Coverage Endorsement - West Virginia" ("the Stop Gap 

I References in this Brief to the specific pages of the Appendix Record will be made in this manner, with AR 
signifying the Appendix Record, and the four digit number signifying the page number. 
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Endorsement")(AR0087-0090). The Endorsement modifies the insurance provided under the 

Primary Policy by stating (in relevant part): 

A. 	 The following is added to Section I - Coverages: 

COVERAGE - STOP GAP - EMPLOYERS LIABILITY 

1. 	 Insuring Agreement 

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated 
by West Virginia Law to pay as damages because of "bodily injury 
by accident" or "bodily injury by disease" to your "employee" to 
which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to 
defend the insured against any "suit" seeking those damages. 
However, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any 
"suit" seeking damages to which this insurance does not apply. 

(AR0087) 

The Stop Gap Endorsement contains the following exclusion: 

2. 	 Exclusions 

This insurance does not apply to: 

I. 	 West Virginia Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2 

"Bodily injury by accident" or "bodily injury by disease" caused 
by an action determined to be of deliberate intention as specified 
under West Virginia Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2. 

(AR0089) 

The Excess Policy is a standard "follow form" excess insurance policy that incorporates 

the exclusions of the underlying insurance via the following provision: 

2. 	 Exclusions 

The following exclusions, and any other exclusions added by 
endorsement, apply to this Policy. In addition, the exclusions applicable 
to any "controlling underlying insurance" apply to this insurance unless 
superseded by the foHowing exclusions, or superseded by any other 
exclusions added by endorsement to this Policy. 
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(AR0133) 

The Schedule of Underlying Insurance in the Excess Policy identifies the Primary Policy 

as the "controlling underlying insurance." (AR0130) Thus, both the Primary Policy and the 

Excess Policy exclude coverage for deliberate intent claims brought against an employer by an 

employee. 

III. The Purchase of the Insurance Policies 

In 2012, Kimes Steel wished to do business with a company called James River Coal. 

(AR0478-0479) James River Coal provided Kimes Steel with a two page listing of minimum 

insurance requirements for vendors wishing to do business with James River Coal. (AR0310

0311) Shannon Kimes, the principal of Kimes Steel, retained an insurance agent to help Kimes 

Steel procure the insurance needed to satisfy James River Coal's requirements. (AR0479) 

Shannon Kimes testified that, during the process of buying insurance to satisfy the James 

River Coal insurance requirements, he understood that workers' compensation and employer's 

liability coverage were "lumped together" by James River Coal, and that he was going to buy 

both of these types of coverage from BrickStreet. (AR0577-0578) Kimes Steel, in fact, 

purchased a workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance policy from BrickStreet. 

(AR0584-0607) Kimes Steel requested from BrickStreet, and was provided by BrickStreet, an 

increased employer's liability limit of liability in order to satisfy the insurance requirements 

Kimes Steel had obtained from James River Coal. (AR0186) 

None of the discussions Shannon Kimes had with his agent in 2012 involved buying 

employer's liability insurance from First Mercury; they involved buying it from BrickStreet. 

(AR0577-0578) The focus of Kimes Steel's purchase of insurance from First Mercury was to 

satisfy the requirement from James River Coal that Kimes Steel have general liability insurance, 
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because Kimes Steel had gone without any general liability insurance at all for a number of years 

prior to 2012, and it was a clear requirement by James River Coal. (AR0576) 

The First Mercury insurance policies were purchased on the surplus lines market, and as 

such, the agent interacting with Kimes Steel was the agent of Kimes Steel, not First Mercury. 

(AR0526) 

The agent representing Kimes Steel never asked First Mercury to add employer's liability 

to the First Mercury Primary Policy. (AR0529) First Mercury placed it in the insurance 

proposal on its own, due to its outdated belief, at the time the policy was produced, that West 

Virginia still had a monopolistic, government-run workers' compensation system. (AR0527

0529) The application ultimately submitted by Kimes Steel identified the Stop Gap 

Endorsement by its name and Insurance Services Office ("ISO") standardized endorsement 

number CG04430204 as being part of the insurance proposal. (AR0313 and 0528) 

Shannon Kimes testified that nothing regarding the insurance application that Kimes 

Steel submitted to First Mercury led him to think that Kimes Steel would have insurance 

coverage for deliberate intent lawsuits under the First Mercury policies, because at that time, Mr. 

Kimes did not know what deliberate intent lawsuits were, nor did he understand what the term 

"stop gap" meant. (AR0183) At the time he was purchasing the insurance policies in question, 

Mr. Kimes believed that employees could not sue Kimes Steel at all if Kimes Steel participated 

in the workers' compensation system. (AR0185) Mr. Kimes testified that, before the accident in 

question happened in 2013, no one led Kimes Steel to think that it would have insurance 

coverage for deliberate intent lawsuits, because before the accident, Mr. Kimes did not even 

know that a deliberate intent lawsuit could be filed. (AR0185) Mr. Kimes testified that he 
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purchased the Stop Gap Endorsement as part of the First Mercury Primary Policy, but he did not 

know what it would, or would not, cover. (AR0307-0308) 

IV. The Insured's Review of the Insurance Policies 

Kimes Steel purchased the First Mercury insurance policies in 2012. (AR0178) Shannon 

Kimes testified that Kimes Steel received copies of the First Mercury insurance policies in the 

fall of 2012. (AR0178) Mr. Kimes also testified that no one at Kimes Steel actually read the 

First Mercury insurance policies at any point before Mr. Russell was injured in May of 2013. 

Mr. Kimes believes he may have perused the policies, but he did not read them at that time. 

(AR0178-0179) 

After Mr. Kimes received service of the summons and complaint in the Russells' lawsuit 

against Kimes Steel, Mr. Kimes read the policies and came to the conclusion, at that time, that 

there was no coverage under the First Mercury insurance policies for the deliberate intent lawsuit 

the Russells had filed against Kimes Steel. (AR0180-0181) He expressed this belief to Michael 

Gorman, a claims handler at First Mercury. (AR0184) 

V. Procedural History 

After learning of the lawsuit filed by the Russells against Kimes Steel, on May 5, 2014 

First Mercury denied coverage to Kimes Steel under both the Primary and Excess Policies. 

(AR0159-0163) In June of 2014, the Russells amended their Complaint to add a declaratory 

judgment claim against First Mercury. (AR0005-0010) Specifically, the Russells allege First 

Mercury is obligated to provide a defense and indemnification to Kimes Steel under both the 

Primary and Excess Policies for the Russells' claims against Kimes Steel in the tort lawsuit. 

(AR0008-0009) 
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In October of 2014, Kimes Steel filed a cross-claim against First Mercury for breach of 

contract and bad faith regarding First Mercury's denial of a defense and indemnity to Kimes 

Steel in regard to the Russells' claims against it. (AROOll-0016) On March 18, 2015, the 

Circuit Court entered an Agreed Order vacating the Scheduling Order and staying discovery of 

the underlying tort claim issues between the Russells and Kimes Steel pending resolution of the 

coverage issues. (AR0038-0040) 

On January 28, 2016, First Mercury moved for partial summary judgment on the 

coverage issues, and in February 2016, Kimes Steel and the Russells also moved for partial 

summary judgment on the coverage issues. (AR0041-0878) By Order entered May 18,2016, 

the Circuit Court denied First Mercury's motion for partial summary judgment and granted 

Appellees' motions for partial summary judgment, finding that coverage existed under the First 

Mercury policies for the Russells' deliberate intent claims against Kimes Steel. (AR0879-0905) 

It is from this Order that First Mercury appeals. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Russells brought a deliberate intent lawsuit against Kimes Steel. Kimes Steel is 

insured under a primary commercial general liability insurance policy with First Mercury, and an 

excess policy that "follows form" with the primary policy. The primary policy provides some 

employer's liability coverage to Kimes Steel, but deliberate intent lawsuits are explicitly 

excluded under the policy. Therefore, there is no coverage for Kimes Steel under the First 

Mercury policies regarding the deliberate intent lawsuit filed by the Russells. Employers' Mut. 

Ins. Co. v. Summit Point, 228 W. Va. 360, 719 S.E.2d 830 (2011) is controlling precedent, given 

the similarities between the exclusion at issue in that case and the one at issue here. 
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The Circuit Court found that deliberate intent lawsuits are the only type of lawsuits based 

on an injury to an employee that can be brought in West Virginia against an employer who has 

purchased workers' compensation insurance, and therefore, the deliberate intent exclusion must 

be ambiguous (or illusory) for excluding the only type of claim that can be covered under the 

endorsement that provides employer's liability coverage. This is untrue; there is at least one 

other type of lawsuit based on an injury to an employee that can be brought in West Virginia 

against an employer who has purchased workers' compensation insurance. More importantly, if 

a party filed a lawsuit against an employer that is based on an injury to an employee, but that 

type of lawsuit is not recognized under West Virginia law, First Mercury would still have a duty 

to defend that employer until the lawsuit is dismissed. In the Summit Point case, this Court 

rejected the same analysis relied upon- by the Circuit Court here. Most workers' compensation 

and employer's liability insurance policies sold in West Virginia operate the same way as the 

First Mercury primary policy at issue in this case: They provide some employer's liability 

coverage, but exclude deliberate intent lawsuits from coverage. This Court approved of such a 

policy structure in Summit Point. 

The other bases for the Circuit Court's conclusion that the First Mercury primary policy 

is ambiguous regarding coverage for deliberate intent lawsuits likewise have no merit. The 

Circuit Court found that the exclusion in question is ambiguous because it fails to explicitly cite 

the language ofW. Va. Code § 23-4-2; however, this Court rejected that argument in the Summit 

Point case. The Circuit Court also found that the exclusion in question had to be ambiguous 

because the First Mercury claims adjusters were confused by it. What the claims adjusters 

thought or did not think is irrelevant to this Court's analysis of whether the exclusion is valid and 

enforceable. Moreover, the claims adjusters were not confused; they simply took two days of 
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thought and discussion in order to determine the best way to proceed regarding the fact that an 

exclusion appeared to prevent coverage for Kimes Steel. They ultimately decided to deny 

coverage to Kimes Steel, and appropriately so. 

The Circuit Court applied the doctrine of reasonable expectations to find that Kimes Steel 

should be covered under the First Mercury policies for the Russells' deliberate intent lawsuit. 

However, the doctrine of reasonable expectations has no application here. The Circuit Court 

erred by constructing views that could potentially be held by a fictional employer, rather than 

examining what Kimes Steel actually thought. The evidence shows that Kimes Steel had no 

expectation at all prior to the accident in question that the First Mercury insurance policies would 

cover Kimes Steel for deliberate intent lawsuits. Kimes Steel did not even know what deliberate 

intent lawsuits were until after it was sued by the Russells. Kimes Steel never read the First 

Mercury insurance policies before the accident in question, but read them after it was sued, and 

came to the conclusion that there was no coverage under the First Mercury insurance policies for 

the deliberate intent lawsuit filed by the Russells. 

The Circuit Court applied the doctrine of estoppel to find that Kimes Steel should be 

insured under the First Mercury insurance policies, based on the notion that First Mercury 

misrepresented the nature of the employer's liability endorsement added to the First Mercury 

primary policy by calling it a Stop Gap Employer's Liability endorsement. However, there is 

nothing about the title of the endorsement that misrepresents anything about the coverages 

provided. Moreover, Kimes Steel did not rely in any way on the title of the endorsement. 

This case is simple: A clear and unambiguous exclusion prevents Kimes Steel from 

being covered under the First Mercury policies for the deliberate intent filed by the Russells. 

The Circuit Court erred by finding coverage to exist, and therefore should be reversed. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 


Oral argument is necessary in this matter because the criteria outlined in Rule 18(a) of the 

West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure do not render oral argument unnecessary: No party 

has waived oral argument, this appeal is not frivolous, the parties disagree as to whether the 

dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided, and this Court's decisional process would 

benefit from oral argument. 

Oral argument should take place pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure, as opposed to Rule 20, because this case involves the application of settled 

law to a particular pair of insurance policies and a set of operative facts that are not in dispute. 

A memorandum decision is probably not appropriate in this matter. First Mercury is 

seeking reversal, and according to Rule 2I(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, 

a memorandum decision reversing the decision of a Circuit Court should only be issued in 

limited circumstances. 

ARGUMENT 

This appeal seeks reversal of an order granting summary judgment, and denying 

summary judgment, to opposing parties in an insurance coverage dispute. Typically, this Court 

will apply a plenary review to the entry of summary judgment. Syl. pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 

W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Such is the appropriate standard of review in this matter. 

I. 	 The Circuit Court erred by failing to enforce the clear and unambiguous "West 
Virginia Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2" exclusion contained in the 
operative endorsement of the First Mercury primary policy, and by failing to 
recognize Employers' Mut. Ins. Co. v. Summit Point, 228 W. Va. 360, 719 S.E.2d 
830 (2011) as controlling authority on this issue. 

This case is actually very simple, and can be resolved on the first assignment of error. 

The Russells filed a deliberate intent lawsuit against Kimes Steel, making it clear that it was 
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solely a lawsuit by an employee against his employer pursuant to W. Va. Code § 23-4-2. Kimes 

Steel had commercial general liability insurance through First Mercury, at both the primary and 

excess level. There is a clear and unambiguous exclusion in the Primary Policy regarding such 

actions, which is also incorporated by reference into the Excess Policy: 

2. Exclusions 

This insurance does not apply to: 

I. 	 West Virginia Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2 

"Bodily injury by accident" or "bodily injury by disease" caused by an 
action determined to be of deliberate intention as specified under West 
Virginia Workers Compensation Law, Sect. 23-4-2. 

(AR0089) 

The Russells' lawsuit against Kimes Steel is a lawsuit based solely on W. Va. Code § 23

4-2, and lawsuits based on W. Va. Code § 23-4-2 are excluded under both of the insurance 

policies, pursuant to the above exclusion. Insurance coverage disputes do not come any simpler 

than this. 

In determining what insurance policy language means, it is well-settled law in West 

Virginia that language in an insurance policy should be given its plain, ordinary meaning. Aluise 

v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 218 W. Va. 498, 505, 625 S.E.2d 260, 267 (2006) (citing 

Keefer v. Prudential Ins. Co., 153 W. Va. 813, 816, 172 S.E.2d 714, 716 (1970». Further, 

"[w]here the provisions in an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not 

subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning 

intended." Id. 
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The Circuit Court found the above exclusion to be ambiguous. However, this is 

inconsistent with relevant, and relatively recent, case law from this Court: Employers' Mut. Ins. 

Co. v. Summit Point, 228 W. Va. 360, 719 S.E.2d 830 (2011).

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