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

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of Review. 

First Mercury appeals the Order issued by the Circuit Court granting summary judgment in 

favor ofthe Respondents and Kime Steel, and denying First Mercury's Motion For Partial Summary 

Judgment. Under settled West Virginia law, the Order is subject to de novo review. Painter v. 

Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994) ("A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is 

reviewed de novo."); see also, Findleyv. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 213 W.Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 

807 (2002) ("This Court reviews de novo the denial ofa motion for summary judgment, where such 

a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court."). 
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While the standard of review is de novo, when this Court reviews a decision of the Circuit 

Court to grant summary judgment, it does so under the same standards that the Circuit Court applied 

to determine whether summary judgment was appropriate. Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 

W.Va. 52, 59,459 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1995). The interpretation ofan insurance contract, including 

the question of whether the contract is ambiguous, is a legal determination which, like the court's 

summary judgment, is reviewed de novo on appeal. Payne v. Weston, 195 W.Va. 502, 507,466 

S.E.2d 161 (1995). In that regard, this Court noted in Murray v. State Farm Fire And Casualty 

Company,203 W.Va. 477, 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998): 

Determination ofthe proper coverage ofan insurance contract when the facts are not 
in dispute is a question of law. 

Murray at 482, 6. (Citations omitted). Likewise, Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules ofCivil 

Procedure governs requests for partial summary judgement and provides: "The judgment sought 

shall be rendered forthwith ifthe pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions 

on file, together with the affidavits, ifany, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact 

and that the moving party is entitled to ajudgment as a matter oflaw." 

n. 	 The Circuit Court below found that First Mercury's policy is inherently ambiguous 
and provides coverage for the Plaintiffs' claims against Kimes Steel. 

In its second, third and fourth assignments of error, First Mercury asserts that the Circuit 

Court incorrectly found that the policy language upon which it relied to deny coverage was 

ambiguous. Because the nature ofthe First Mercury policy language and its inherent ambiguity must 

be addressed before First Mercury's other assignments of error can be properly understood, these 

Respondents will address those assignments oferror first. 
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In order to address the coverage issues presented in this case, it is first necessary to review 

what "stop gap" coverage is and why West Virginia employers purchase it. Prior to the enaction of 

the Workers' Compensation laws, the recourse for employees who suffered on-the-job injuries was 

to bring a lawsuit against their employer for negligence. In such a suit, an employer could raise all 

ofthe available common law defenses, including the comparative negligence ofits employee. That 

situation changed after West Virginia enacted Workers' Compensation statutes, such as W. Va. Code 

§23-2-6, which provides that any employer who pays into the Workers' Compensation system is 

immune from suit "for the injury or death of any employee." The trade-off for this immunity, of 

course, is that the Workers' Compensation coverage pays for on the job injuries sustained by 

employees in the course of their employment regardless of fault. Under the law, an employer's 

immunity applies in all but a few circumstances. The exceptions to immunity were set forth in W. Va. 

Code §23-4-2, which provided, at the relevant time: 

[T]he intent ofthe Legislature in providing immunity from common law suit was and 
is to protect those so immunized from litigation outside the workers' compensation 
system except as expressly provided in this chapter; that, in enacting the immunity 
provisions ofthis chapter, the Legislature intended to create a legislative standard for 
loss of that immunity of more narrow application and containing more specific 
mandatory elements than the common law tort system concept and standard of 
willful, wanton, and reckless misconduct[.] 

W Va. Code §23-4-2(d)(1}.1 The Statue went on to set forth a specific list of five elements which 

an employee must prove in order to establish "deliberate intent" on the part of the employer and 

penetrate the employer's immunity. They are: 

(a) 	 That a specific unsafe working condition existed in the work place which 
presented a high degree of risk and a strong probability of serious injury or 
death; 

1 The Legislature amended the relevant statute effective June 12,2015. Since the subject 
accident occurred in 2013, all references are to the law in effect at the time. 
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(b) 	 That the employer, prior to the injury, had actual knowledge ofthe existence 
of the specific unsafe working condition and of the high degree of risk and 
the strong probability of serious injury or death presented by the specific 
unsafe working condition; 

(c) 	 That the specific unsafe working condition was a violation of a state or 
federal safety statute, rule or regulation, whether cited or not, or of a 
commonly accepted and well known safety standard within the industry or 
business ofthe employer, as demonstrated by competent evidence ofwritten 
standards or guidelines which reflect a consensus safety standard in the 
industry or business, which statute, rule, regulation or standard was 
specifically applicable to the particular work and working condition involved, 
as contrasted with a statute, rule, regulation, or standard generally requiring 
safe work places, equipment or working conditions; 

(d) 	 That notwithstanding the existence of the facts set forth in sub-paragraphs 
(A) through C), inclusive, of this paragraph, the employer nevertheless 
intentionally thereafter exposed an employee to the specific unsafe working 
condition; and 

(e) 	 That the employee exposed suffered serious compensable injury or 
compensable death as defined in section one, article four, chapter twenty
three whether a claim for benefits under this chapter is filed or not a direct 
and proximate result ofthe specific unsafe working condition. 

W. Va. 	 Code §23-4-2(d)(2)(ii). In light of this statutory framework, the only type of employee 

personal injury actions to which West Virginia employers are routinely subjected are actions brought 

pursuant to W. Va. Code §23-4-2(d)(2)(ii). 

As noted above, Exclusion "L," the "Stop Gap - Employers Liability Coverage Endorsement 

- West Virginia," attached to the First Mercury policy, purports to exclude: 

"Bodily injury by accident" or "bodily injury by disease" caused by any action 
determined to be of deliberate intention as specified under West Virginia Workers 
Compensation law, Sect. 23-4-2. 

(See AR 240-242) Such a policy provision defeats the very purpose for purchasing "employers 

liability stop gap coverage" in West Virginia and runs counter to the reasonable expectations ofany 

objective person who purchases "stop gap coverage. In that regard, this Court defined employers 
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liability coverage and explained its purpose in the case of Erie Insurance- Property and Casualty 

Company v. Stage Show Pizza, JTs, Inc., 210 W.Va. 63, 553 S.E.2d 257 (W.Va. 2001), stating: 

[E]mployers' liability insurance is traditionally written in conjunction with workers' 
compensation policies and is intended to serve as a "gap-filler," providing protection 
to the employer in those situations where the employee has a right to bring a tort 
action despite the provisions of the workers' compensation statute or the employee 
is not subject to workers' compensation law. Generally, these two kinds ofcoverage 
are mutually exclusive. Most employers' liability policies limit coverage to liability 
for which the insured is held liable as an employer. .. We can therefore conclude 
that employers' liability insurance applies to actions brought by an employee 
against an employer, when the employer and the employee are not entitled to the 
benefits and protections under any workers' compensation law, or when, even 
though covered by a workers' compensation law, the employee has a right to 
bring an action for common law damages against the employer. 

Stage Show Pizza at 68,262. (Citations omitted). (Emphasis supplied). Based upon this Court's 

explanation, a reasonably prudent person must conclude that an "employers liability stop gap policy" 

would cover precisely the situation of an employee, such as Jeffrey Russell, presenting a claim 

against his employer, Kimes Steel, that falls within the exception of Kimes Steel's workers' 

compensation immunity. Unfortunately, First Mercury's interpretation of what its "employers 

liability stop gap" policy actually covers is directly in conflict with this Court's analysis ofstop gap 

employers liability coverage. 

Policy language is ambiguous if it "is reasonably susceptible of two different meanings or 

is of such doubtful meaning that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its 

meaning[.]" Syi. Pt. 1, Pretev. Merchants Property Ins. Co. o/Indiana, 159 W.Va. 508,223 S.E.2d 

441 (1976). A latent ambiguity "arises when the instrument upon its face appears clear and 

unambiguous, but there is some collateral matter which makes the meaning uncertain." Flanagan 

v. Stalnaker, 216 W.Va. 436, 607 S.E.2d 765, 769 n. 4 (2004) (per curiam) (citation omitted). 

Moreover, "[w]here the policy language involved is exclusionary, it will be strictly construed against 

2708311420 12 



the insurer in order that the purpose of providing indemnity not be defeated." Syllabus Pt. 5 

National Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 177 W.Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d488 (1987),modified 

on other grounds by Potesta v. us. Fid. & Guar. Co., 202 W.Va. 308, 504 S.E.2d 135 (1998). 

Similarly, in West Virginia Fire & Casualty Company v. Stanley, 216 W.Va. 40, 602 S.E.2d 483 

(2004), this Court set forth specific rules which West Virginia Courts follow when interpreting an 

insurance policy, stating: 

When this Court interprets an insurance policy, the [l]anguage in an insurance policy 
should be given its plain, ordinary meaning." . . . "Where the provisions of an 
insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial 
construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning 
intended." ... However, "[w ]henever the language ofan insurance policy provision 
is reasonably susceptible of two different meanings or is of such doubtful meaning 
that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning, it is 
ambiguous." ... Finally, [i]t is well settled law in West Virginia that ambiguous 
terms in insurance contracts are to be strictly construed against the insurance 
company and in favor of the insured." 

Stanley, at 46, 489. 

In this case, First Mercury's "stop gap - employers liability" coverage is ambiguous because 

the Policy's promise to provide coverage for "damages because ofbodily injury to your employees" 

(See AR 240.) contradicts Exclusion "L" of the "Stop Gap - Employers Liability Coverage 

Endorsement - West Virginia," which excludes coverage for the very type ofbodily injury claim an 

employee can bring against a West Virginia employer who is covered by Workers' Compensation 

insurance. Therefore, the collateral matter which makes First Mercury's policy ambiguous is the 

fact that West Virginia employers are immune from all bodily injury claims except "deliberate 

intent" claims of the type First Mercury purports to exclude. First Mercury's policy exclusion 

defeats the reasonable expectations of anyone who purchases "Stop Gap Employers Liability 
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Coverage" and raises the obvious question of exactly what type of claim the First Mercury policy 

covers. 

First Mercury employee Michael Gorman was asked about the typical meaning of"stop gap 

employers liability coverage" in West Virginia and testified as follows: 

Q. 	 This is the West Virginia State Supreme Court speaking on this 
issue: "Employers liability insurance is traditionally written in 
conjunction with Workers' Compensation policies and is intended to 
serve as a gap filler, providing protection to the employer in those 
situations where the employee has a right to bring a tort action, 
despite the provisions of the Workers' Compensation statute or the 
employee is not subject to the Workers' Compensation law." That 
statement is pretty consistent with what we've been talking about as 
far as what stop gap coverage is, isn't it? 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 And it sounds like the West Virginia State Supreme Court thinks that 
employers liability is designed to fill this gap or stop the gap between 
a commercial general liability policy and a Workers' Comp policy, do 
they not? 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 Based on that sentence? 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 They go on to say, "We can, therefore, conclude that employers 
liability insurance applies to actions brought by an employee against 
an employer when the" employee -- or "when the employer and the 
employee are not entitled to the benefits and protections under any 
Workers' Compensation law." That sounds like what we're talking 
about as well, right? Employers liability is for claims where the 
employee can bring a suit and they're not entitled to Workers' Comp 
immunity, right? 

A. 	 That's the way it sounds, yes. 
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(See AR 322 excerpts from the deposition ofMichael Gonnan, at Pgs. 73-75.) Mr. Gonnan then 

testified that the First Mercury policy expressly excludes coverage for ''that type ofclaim." (See AR 

323 at Pg. 77.) 

Exclusion "L" of the "Stop Gap - Employers Liability Coverage Endorsement - West 

Virginia," is also ambiguous because it fails to specify what types ofclaims are excluded and only 

references claims "detennined to be ofdeliberate intention as specified under West Virginia Workers 

Compensation law, Sect. 23-4-2." In that regard, the text and content of W. Va. Code §23-4-2 are 

not found anywhere in the Policy and there is no explanation ofhow a claim might be determined 

to be ofdeliberate intent under the statute. (See AR 240-242.) First Mercury requires an insured to 

know that the phrase "as specified under West Virginia Workers Compensation law, Sect. 23-4-2" 

is meantto refer to "deliberate intent" claims brought pursuant to W. Va. Code §23 -4-2 (d)(2)(ii). This 

fact was acknowledged by Mr. Gonnan during his deposition. He was asked: 

Q. 	 Now, what exactly about this policy tells an insured who believes that 

they have bought employers liability coverage with the understanding 

ofwhat employers liability coverage and stop gap coverage typically 

means -- what about this policy tells that insured that in fact it doesn't 

cover deliberate intent claims ofthe type that are typically brought in 

West Virginia, like was being discussed by the West Virginia State 

Supreme Court? 


A. The citation to the statute. 

(See AR 324 at Pg. 81.) He was also asked: 

Q. 	 Will you agree with me that nowhere in this endorsement is there any 

quote of West Virginia Code Section 23-4-2? 


A. 	 I don't understand your question. 

Q. 	 It makes reference -- this exclusion makes reference to West Virginia 
Code Section 23-4-2, doesn't it? 
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A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 But there's no quote of the statute in the endorsement, is there? In 
other words, you can't read the text ofthe endorsement in this - a text 
of the statute in this endorsement, can you? 

A. 	 No. 

Q. 	 Ifyou were reading this policy, you would have to go look that up, 
wouldn't you? To know what it meant and what it said? 

A. 	 You would have to be familiar with it, yes. 

Q. 	 Well, you say you have to be familiar with it. Wouldn't you have to 

go look it up if you wanted to know the exact text ofthe statute? 


A. Ifyou were unfamiliar with that citation, yes. 

(See 325-326 at Pgs. 48-49.) In fact, Mr. Gorman acknowledged that it would be difficult for an 

insured to understand the exclusion without looking up the specific code section. He was asked: 

Q. 	 Will you agree with me that an understanding ofwhat West Virginia 
Code Section 23-4-2 says is very important to understanding this 
particular exclusion? 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 Will you agree with me that ifyou didn't have an understanding of 
what that code section provides, you wouldn't be able to understand 
this exclusion? 

A. 	 I think it's important to understand what is contained in that code 
section to understand the intent of the exclusion, yes. 

Q. 	 Okay. And without that, it would be very difficult, wouldn't it? 

Without an understanding. 


A. 	 It would be difficult, yes. 

Q. 	 And yet that's not provided anywhere in the policy, is it? 

A. 	 Not that I am aware of, no. 
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(See AR 326 at Pgs. 51-52.) Therefore, First Mercury's argument, at pg. 28 of its Brief that an 

insured in West Virginia has a duty to read the insurance policy pursuant to Syl. Pt. 5 ofSoliva v. 

Shand, Morahan & Co., 176 W.Va. 430, 345 S.E.2d 33 (W.Va. 1986), misses the point. Even if 

Mr. Kimes had read every single word of the First Mercury policy, he would not have understood 

what claims were excluded from coverage without researching the statute and the decisions 

interpreting it. Moreover, this Court has previously noted:

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